**RECEIVED**

**May 12 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Vernon F. Dunbar, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2025-001290

---

Marvin Barborek,.....Respondent,

v.

Cascades Nursing, LLC and Cascades Retirement, LLC,.....Appellants.

---

**FINAL APPELLANTS' BRIEF**

---

R. Hawthorne Barrett (SC Bar #16973)  
R. Gerald Chambers, Jr. (SC Bar #12065)  
Turner Padgett Graham & Laney P.A.  
P.O. Box 1473  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 254-2200  
[TBarrett@TurnerPadgett.com](mailto:TBarrett@TurnerPadgett.com)

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the circuit court err in denying the motion to compel arbitration, where a binding arbitration agreement exists between the parties and any questions about its validity and enforceability must be determined by an arbitrator?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from an injury that Respondent Marvin Barborek (“Barborek”) claims to have sustained while he was a resident at a nursing care facility owned and/or operated by Appellants Cascades Nursing, LLC and Cascades Retirement, LLC (collectively “Cascades”). Barborek filed a Summons and Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Greenville County on January 24, 2025. [R. pp. 4-11] Cascades filed a timely Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration on February 19, 2025. [R. pp. 12-24] Cascades then filed an Answer the following day. [R. pp. 25-30]

After the parties received notice of a hearing on Cascades’ Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration, Barborek filed a memorandum in opposition on May 16, 2025. [R. pp. 31-43] The hearing, with the Honorable Vernon F. Dunbar presiding, took place on May 20, 2025. [R. pp. 80-105] Judge Dunbar heard oral arguments from both parties’ counsel and took Cascades’ motion under advisement. [R. pp. 103-104]

On May 30, 2025, Judge Dunbar filed a Form 4 order denying the motion. The order included the following “findings of fact and conclusions of law”:

1) Defendant seeks to establish that there exists a contractual waiver of a jury trial in favor of arbitration. Thus, Defendant has the burden of proof to establish that the waive [sic] was signed knowingly, voluntarily, and intentionally. A jury trial right is fundamental and cannot be waived absent clear evidence.

2) This Court is mindful that arbitration agreements enjoy a strong presumption of validity in federal and state courts. See *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 SC 19, 24, 644 S.E.2d 663, 558 [sic] (2007).

3) Sufficient genuine issues giving rise to the waiver of a jury trial and the applicability of the arbitration agreement cannot be adjudicated by this Court at this particular point in the proceedings absent sufficient discovery.

Therefore, Defendant's motion to Dismiss is hereby DENIED. Plaintiff has pled facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.

[R. pp. 1-3] Judge Dunbar did not request or file any subsequent formal order, and Cascades filed and served a timely Notice of Appeal on June 27, 2025.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Barborek came to Cascades' facility after being discharged from a hospital on March 6, 2025. As part of the facility's intake process, Barborek signed an Admission Agreement that included an attached Arbitration Agreement. [R. pp. 50-58] Although he has raised arguments about his mental state since that time, Barborek has not expressly denied that he signed the admission and arbitration agreement. Nor has Barborek presented any actual evidence of a mental impairment at the time he signed the agreement.

Under the heading "YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES AS A RESIDENT", the Admission Agreement included the following: "ARBITRATION. See full "ARBITRATION AGREEMENT" attached separately." [R. p. 55.] The Admission Agreement also contained the following language under the heading "INTERPRETATION": "This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the heirs, successors, permitted assigns, and legal and personal representatives of the parties." [R. p. 57]

The Arbitration Agreement, which Barborek signed separately, but on the same date as the Admission Agreement, includes the following provisions that are relevant to the issue on appeal:

(b) Any disputes concerning the scope, validity or enforceability of this Arbitration Agreement shall be decided by an arbitrator, not a court. ...

(c) Resident and Community acknowledge and agree that the relationship between Resident and Community involves interstate commerce; therefore, the Federal Arbitration Act is applicable to this Arbitration Agreement.

(d) This Arbitration Agreement is an integral and essential part of the Residency Agreement between Resident and Community.

(e) You, the Resident (or Resident's representative), are not required to sign this Arbitration Agreement as a condition of Resident's admission to, or as a requirement for Resident to continue to receive care at, this facility.

[R. pp. 58-59]

In addition, the Arbitration Agreement states that it applies to “[a]ny and all controversies, claims, disputes, disagreements or demands of any kind that Resident may have against Community, its employees or agents, or Community’s affiliates (including, but not limited to, Maxwell Group, Inc. or Senior Living Communities) or their employees or agents ...” [R. p. 58 (all emphasis added)]

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An order denying a motion to compel arbitration ... is immediately appealable.” *New Hope Missionary Baptist Church v. Paragon Builders*, 379 S.C. 620, 626, 667 S.E.2d 1, 4 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing S.C. Code §15-48-200(a)(2) (“An appeal may be taken from an order denying application to compel arbitration.”)). “An appeal from the denial of a

motion to compel arbitration is subject to de novo review.” *Estate of Mary Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical and Operational Servs., LLC*, 438 S.C. 638, 645, 885 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2023).

## ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in denying Cascades’ Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration. Although the order did not specify the “genuine issues” that the circuit court relied upon in denying the motion, the written and oral arguments presented by the parties demonstrate the issues raised to, and necessarily ruled upon, by the circuit court. Regardless of whether the circuit court relied on any one of Barborek’s arguments in opposition, or all of them, the end result was legal error. A binding agreement to arbitrate exists in this case, and any questions relating to its enforceability and applicability are issues for an arbitrator to decide. Therefore, exercising its broad standard of review, this Court should reverse and remand with instructions to grant Cascades’ motion, compel arbitration and dismiss this action.

### **I. The Arbitration Agreement merged with the Admission Agreement.**

In opposition to Cascades’ motion, Barborek asserted that the Cascades entities did not sign the Arbitration Agreement and were not parties to it, and that no consideration existed for the Arbitration Agreement. Those arguments depend upon a conclusion that the Arbitration Agreement and the Skilled Care Residency Agreement (“the Admission Agreement”) were legally separate and distinct. Under the common law doctrine of merger, however, those agreements must be seen as two parts of the same whole. Thus, Barborek’s

arguments are incorrect, and the circuit court erred to the extent it relied upon them in denying Cascades' motion.<sup>1</sup>

As the South Carolina Supreme Court has explained:

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the instruments together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract. ... Construing contemporaneous instruments together means simply that if there are any provisions in one instrument limiting, explaining, or otherwise affecting the provisions of another, they will be given effect between the parties so that the whole agreement as actually made may be effectuated.

*Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977). "Where one of the contracts explains, amplifies, or limits the other, those provisions will be given effect between the parties so that the whole agreement, as actually contracted by the parties, may be effectuated." *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 92, 594 S.E.2d 492-93 (Ct. App. 2004). "This rule applies even where the parties are not the same, if the several instruments were known to all the parties and were delivered the same time to accomplish an agreed purpose." *Id.* at 93, 594 S.E.2d at 493. This Court has called the merger doctrine "well established." *Edward Pinckney Associates, Ltd. v. Carver*, 294 S.C. 351, 354, 364 S.E.2d 473, 474 (Ct. App. 1987).

---

<sup>1</sup> As discussed in section II below, Cascades contends that an arbitrator, not the circuit court, had the exclusive authority to rule on issues relating to the "validity" and "enforceability" of the Arbitration Agreement. Those issues would include whether or not the doctrine of merger applies. By discussing the merits of the merger issue separately in this section, Cascades does not waive or abandon its position that the circuit court lacked authority to rule on this issue, which constitutes another, independent basis for reversal.

There is no question that Barborek signed the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement on the same date, that the same (or related) parties were involved, and that both agreements dealt with Barborek's stay at Cascades' facility. Thus, unless a sufficient "contrary intention" exists, which it does not, the doctrine of merger applies, and the two agreements are one for all relevant purposes.

In the circuit court, Barborek relied on *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018), as support for his argument that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement did not merge. Although the agreements in that case do bear some similarities to the ones in the present case, sufficient differences exist to make *Hodge* inapplicable.

The primary legal issue in *Hodge* was whether or not the decedent's husband had the legal authority to bind the decedent (or her estate) to an arbitration agreement. Yet, this Court also addressed arguments by the appellant care facility that the merger doctrine applied to the separate admission and arbitration agreements that the husband signed for the decedent. Concluding that merger did not apply, this Court stated:

[T]he Admissions Agreement indicated it was governed by South Carolina law, whereas the Arbitration Agreement stated it was governed by federal law. Like in *Coleman [v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.]*, 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014)], the Arbitration Agreement recognized a separateness as it referenced the two documents separately, stating "[a]ny and all claims arising out of or in any way relating to this Agreement or the Patient/Resident's Admission Agreement." Also, the Arbitration Agreement stated it could be revoked within thirty days, whereas the Admission Agreement contained no such indication and instead provided the Admissions Agreement could only be amended by the patient with written agreement executed by the Facility and the patient in the same manner as the Admissions Agreement was executed or if the Facility sent a notice of the amendment to the patient and the patient did

not reject the amendment within thirty days. Further, each document was separately paginated and had its own signature page. Additionally, the Arbitration Agreement stated signing it was not a precondition to admission. **Based on all of this**, we find the Admissions Agreement and Arbitration Agreement did not merge.

442 S.C. at 562-63, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (italics in original; boldface added).

As Barborek argued in the circuit court, the Arbitration Agreement that he signed was revocable within thirty days, had its own signature page, and was not a condition to admission to Cascades' facility. Those statements, while accurate as far as they go, do not tell the entire story. This Court in *Hodge* plainly stated that it based its decision on "all" of the factors discussed in the passage quoted above. Here, not "all" of those factors are present, and, in fact, significant differences exist.

First, the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement do not contain any conflicting provisions about the controlling law. The Arbitration Agreement expressly states that it is subject to the Federal Arbitration Act, while the Admission Agreement is silent on the question of controlling law for purposes of interpreting the contract. This fact removes one of the bases for the Court's decision in *Hodge*.

Second, nothing in the Admission and Arbitration Agreements in this case "recognized a separateness" between the two. Unlike the contract in *Hodge*, the Admission Agreement here contains an express, and inclusive, reference to the Arbitration Agreement. Specifically, the Admission Agreement states: "**ARBITRATION**. See full "**ARBITRATION AGREEMENT**" attached separately." [R. p. 55] The use of the word "separately" in that context does not demonstrate that the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were to be distinct and unrelated contracts. Rather, the Admission

Agreement clearly contemplates the terms of the Arbitration Agreement, which is an attachment to the Admission Agreement.

The language of the Arbitration Agreement supports and reinforces this reading of the Admission Agreement. Subsection (d) of the Arbitration Agreement states: “This Arbitration Agreement is an integral and essential part of the Residency Agreement between the Resident and Community.” [R. p. 58 (emphasis added)] Again, this does not support any conclusion that the two agreements are meant to be separate and distinct contracts. Instead, the provision demonstrates that the Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement are two parts of one comprehensive contractual arrangement involving the parties.

Third, the language of the actual arbitration provision here is different than the one in *Hodge*. This arbitration provision applies to “[a]ny and all controversies, claims, disputes, disagreements or demands of any kind that Resident may have against Community ...”. [R. p. 58] The provision in *Hodge* referenced “[a]ny and all claims arising out of or in any way *relating to this Agreement or the Patient/Resident’s Admission Agreement*.” 442 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (emphasis in original). As the emphasized language demonstrates, the arbitration agreement in *Hodge* plainly referred to the two agreements as separate and distinct things. Nothing similar appears in the Arbitration Agreement or the Admission Agreement in the present case.

Fourth, although this Arbitration Agreement, like the one in *Hodge*, was revocable within thirty days, that similarity is a red herring. In *Hodge*, there is no indication that the admission agreement, as opposed to the arbitration agreement, was revocable by the resident. Rather, it contained a complicated process for the resident to seek amendment of

the admission agreement. Here, the Admission Agreement affords Barborek an unconditional right to terminate the contract merely by giving thirty days' notice. Thus, unlike in *Hodge*, Barborek had similar termination rights with respect to both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement.

Fifth, Barborek's arguments about separate pagination and signature pages are also unavailing. The agreements in the present case contain no identifiable page numbers, which obviously means they cannot be seen as being numbered separately. In addition, as previously noted, the Admission Agreement refers to the Arbitration Agreement as an attachment. As for the separate signature pages, that point standing alone cannot possibly support a conclusion that merger does not apply. It is difficult to conceive of a situation invoking the merger doctrine that would not involve separately signed agreements. If that were all it took to prevent merger of agreements, the exception would almost always swallow the rule.

Sixth, the fact that Barborek could have declined the Arbitration Agreement and still gained admission to the facility does not mean the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement did not merge. Although the *Hodge* court listed that as one of the factors it relied upon, nothing in that opinion gives any indication that it was a primary consideration, or that standing alone it could (let alone must) prevent merger of the agreements. If everything else in this case were the same as in *Hodge*, the "non-required" language of the Arbitration Agreement might support the circuit court's decision. However, the opposite is true when one considers the numerous differences between the agreements at issue in *Hodge* and the ones in this case.

This Court in *Hodge* relied heavily on the Supreme Court's decision in *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014). *Coleman* is also distinguishable from the present case, and it does not provide any support for the circuit court's decision. In *Coleman*, the Supreme Court concluded merger did not apply to an admission agreement and an arbitration agreement, and it referenced the resident's ability to revoke the arbitration agreement, but not the admission agreement. Yet, the primary basis for the Court's decision was an "entirety of agreement" section that referenced the admission and arbitration agreements as separate and distinct contracts. As previously discussed, no such language appears in the agreements in this case. To the contrary, the agreements refer to each other and indicate that they are part of the same overall contractual relationship with the resident. Thus, any attempt by Barborek to rely on *Coleman* must fail.

Furthermore, *Coleman* and *Hodge* cannot stand for the proposition that merger is inapplicable in cases involving arbitration agreements. In *Sentry Engineering and Contr., Inc. v. Mariner's Cay Develop. Corp.*, 287 S.C. 346, 338 S.E.2d 631 (1985), the Supreme Court affirmed the circuit court's conclusion that two construction contracts between the parties constituted one agreement under the merger doctrine. As a result, an arbitration provision was valid and enforceable, even though it only appeared in one of the two contracts. Clearly, then, the involvement of an arbitration agreement should have no bearing on the issue of whether the merger doctrine applies in a given scenario.

There is no support for any conclusion by the circuit court that the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement failed to merge. The cases Barborek cited to the circuit court are distinguishable, and the present facts present a much clearer and stronger example of the merger rule. Regardless of whether or not the circuit court intended to rule

on the merger question, such a ruling was necessary for the court to accept Barborek's arguments in opposition to Cascades' motion. Therefore, the circuit court erred in not concluding that merger applies, and this Court should reverse.

Barborek has never argued that there was no consideration for the Admission Agreement. He has only argued that no separate consideration existed for the Arbitration Agreement. But because merger applies to the two agreements, Barborek's argument on this point becomes irrelevant. The consideration for the Admission Agreement is sufficient for both agreements, which are merely two parts of the same whole.

The same reasoning applies to Barborek's arguments about the absence of Cascades' signature on the Arbitration Agreement and Cascades not being listed specifically as a party to that agreement. There is no question that a corporate representative signed the Admission Agreement, which merged with the Arbitration Agreement. That one signature was sufficient to bind the company to both parts of the overall agreement.<sup>2</sup>

The lack of a specific reference to either Cascades entity in the Arbitration Agreement is also inconsequential. It has been long established that "[a] contract is good between the parties, no matter how incorrect the names used in the paper may be, if it appears they were intended as the names of the parties to be bound by the contract or to receive its benefits." *Cobb & Seals Shoe Store v. Aetna Ins. Co.*, 78 S.C. 388, 389, 58 S.E. 1099 (1907). "A corporation, as well as individuals, may have or be known by several names in the transaction of its general business so that it may enforce, as well as be bound

---

<sup>2</sup> Here, it should be noted that the absence of a corporate signature line on the Arbitration Agreement actually provides further support for merger. If the Arbitration Agreement had been intended as a truly separate and distinct contract, logic dictates that it would have included a place for a corporate representative to sign. The absence of such a signature line is telling.

by, contracts entered into in an adopted name other than the regular name under which it was incorporated.” *Long v. Carolina Baking Co.*, 190 S.C. 367, 377, 3 S.E.2d 46, 50 (1939). “If a corporation has acquired a name by usage, an adjudication against it by the name so acquired is valid and binding.” *Id.* (emphasis omitted).

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