RECEIVED

May 12 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Vernon F. Dunbar, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001290

Marvin Barborek,.....Respondent,

v.

Cascades Nursing, LLC, and Cascades Retirement, LLC,.....Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Mitch Appleby (SC Bar No. 103600)
Mooneyham Berry, LLC
P.O. Box 8359
Greenville, South Carolina 29604
Telephone: 864-421-0036
Fax: 864-421-9060
mitch@mbllc.com

Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court’s May 30, 2025, Order should be affirmed by the Court because it does not contain any clear legal errors, and the factual conclusions of the circuit court are reasonably supported by the evidence in the record. Under prior rulings from both this Court and the South Carolina Supreme Court, similar admission agreements and arbitration agreements have been found to be separate and not to merge. Standing alone, the Arbitration Agreement was not and is not a valid contract, and Appellants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration was properly denied by the

circuit court. For these and the following reasons, the circuit court’s Order denying Appellants’ Motion should be affirmed.

I. The Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement are separate and did not merge.

“In South Carolina, ‘[t]he general rule is that, *in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention*, where instruments are *executed* at the same time, *by the same parties*, for the *same purpose*, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.” *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 355, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (emphasis added).

“[T]he admission agreement and arbitration agreement did not merge because: (1) the admission agreement indicated it was governed by South Carolina law, whereas the arbitration agreement stated it was governed by federal law; (2) as in *Coleman*, the arbitration agreement recognized the two documents were separate, stating ‘[a]ny and all claims or controversies arising out of or in any way relating to this Agreement or the Patient/Resident’s Admission Agreement’; (3) the arbitration agreement stated it could be revoked within thirty days, whereas the admission agreement contained no such indication and instead provided the admission agreement could only be amended; (4) each document was separately paginated and had its own signature page; and (5) the arbitration agreement stated that signing it was not a precondition to admission.” *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 648, 885 S.E.2d at 149 (quoting *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 562-63, 813 S.E.2d 292, 302 (Ct. App. 2018)).

“[A]ny ambiguity in the patient’s admission agreement as to its merger with the arbitration agreement was to be construed against the health care facility.” *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 54, 784 S.E.2d 679, 685 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355-56, 755 S.E.2d at

455). “A contract is ambiguous when it is capable of more than one meaning or when its meaning is unclear.” *Id.* (quoting *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 94, 594 S.E.2d 485, 493 (Ct. App. 2004)).

First, the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement are governed by different bodies of law. In *Solesbee*, the Court found that the admission agreement was governed by South Carolina law, and the arbitration agreement was governed by federal law. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 648, 885 S.E.2d at 149. To be precise, the Admission Agreement is governed by “the applicable laws of South Carolina and the United States of America that are presently in effect.” The Arbitration Agreement, on the other hand, purports to be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act and the Consumer Rules of the American Health Law Association and specifically not by South Carolina law. Therefore, the two agreements are not governed by identical spheres of law: one claims to be subject to both South Carolina law and the laws of the United States, while the other claims to be only subject to the laws of the FAA and the American Health Law Association.

Appellants argue in their brief that the Arbitration Agreement is subject to the FAA while the Admission Agreement is silent on the question of controlling law. They argue that this removes one of the bases for the Court’s decision in *Hodge*. This is incorrect and actually quite the opposite is true. At a minimum, even if Appellants are correct and the Arbitration Agreement is subject to the FAA while the Admission Agreement is silent on the question of controlling law, this is an ambiguity that must be construed against the drafters. The distinction between the two agreements on controlling law is evidence of separation between the two. If the two agreements were one and the same, the drafters would have clearly indicated that one body of law controls both agreements.

Second, the language and formatting of the agreements demonstrate that the two agreements were intended to be separate documents, and at minimum, create an ambiguity as to

merger that must be construed against Appellants. In *Coleman*, the parties' intended that merger not apply as evidenced by the language in the admission agreement "recogniz[ing] the 'separatedness' of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement" and by a clause allowing the arbitration agreement to "be disclaimed within thirty days of signing while the admission agreement could not." *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. "The court then explained the evidence of the parties' intent to keep the two agreements separate by highlighting the admission agreement's recognition of the arbitration agreement as a separate document, i.e., '[t]his Agreement, including all Exhibits hereto, and the Arbitration Agreement...'" *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 52, 784 S.E.2d at 684.

The table of contents for the Admission Agreement is separated into two sections, "Skilled Care Residency Agreement" and "Attachments." The Arbitration Agreement is not a titled section under "Skilled Care Residency Agreement" and is not a designated attachment under "Attachments." It is identified on the "Your Responsibilities as a Resident" page, which falls under the "Skilled Care Residency Agreement" section. On that page, the Arbitration Agreement is referenced by stating, "[s]ee full 'ARBITRATION AGREEMENT attached separately.'" (emphasis added).

In *Thompson*, the appellants argued the admission agreement incorporated by reference all exhibits to the agreement and the arbitration agreement is one of the exhibits. *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685. "[T]he Admission Agreement is ambiguous on this point because (1) it does not define the term 'exhibit' or cross-reference any specific exhibits and (2) the AA [arbitration agreement] does not include any labels or other language indicating it serves as an exhibit or addendum to the Admission Agreement." *Id.* "Therefore, the Admission Agreement's

provision incorporating all ‘exhibits’ must be construed against Appellants.” *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 53-54, 784 S.E.2d at 685.

While the Arbitration Agreement is referenced, that mere reference does not tell the whole story. Consider the use of the words “full” and “separately.” “[F]ull ‘ARBITRATION AGREEMENT,’” in this context, implies that the Arbitration Agreement is its own complete agreement standing apart from the Admission Agreement, particularly with the use of the word “separately” to conclude this sentence. Further, “attached,” in this context, does not mean the two agreements are to be considered one and the same. As previously noted, the table of contents for the Admission Agreement is split into two sections, “Skilled Care Residency Agreement” and “Attachments,” neither of which mention the Arbitration Agreement. If the Arbitration Agreement was an attachment, it would be referenced in the attachments section. Rather, it was and is its own separate, “full” document.

As in *Thompson*, the Admission Agreement is, at best, ambiguous when it comes to the Arbitration Agreement. While the Admission Agreement does reference the Arbitration Agreement, it does not define the words “attached” or “attachment,” and it is reasonable to conclude that, if the Arbitration Agreement were truly an attachment to the Admission Agreement, it would be referenced in the attachments section of the table of contents. Further, the use of the words “full” and “separately” in the context of the reference to the Arbitration Agreement are certainly ambiguous as to whether the Arbitration Agreement was intended to stand alone from the Admission Agreement, which must be construed against Appellants. Regardless, even if there was some reference to the Arbitration Agreement within the Admission Agreement, when viewed alongside the other details of the agreements, there remains an ambiguity as to merger that at best must be construed against the facility.

In addition, while the Court in *Coleman* was considering an “entirety” clause, the language of the Arbitration Agreement itself reflects the “separatedness” contemplated in that opinion. The two-page alleged arbitration contract is entitled “Arbitration Agreement” at the top of both pages. See *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 53 n.1, 784 S.E.2d at 685 n.1 (noting that a separately labeled arbitration agreement indicates the drafter’s intent for the agreement to stand by itself as an independent contract). The Arbitration Agreement also has an “integral and essential” clause in subparagraph “(d),” which that specific clause refers to “[t]his Arbitration Agreement...and...the Residency Agreement,” clearly differentiating the two. In totality, the language and formatting of the two agreements demonstrate, at most, a “separatedness” between the two and, at a minimum, an ambiguity as to their being separate that must be held against the drafter of the agreements.

Third, the Arbitration Agreement “could be disclaimed within thirty days of signing while the admission agreement could not, evidencing an intention that each contract remain separate.” *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. The Arbitration Agreement “contained language that provided it could be disclaimed within thirty days, yet the Admission Agreement did not include such a provision.” *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685. The patient’s right to disclaim the arbitration agreement without having to terminate their residency indicates the drafters’ intent to keep the arbitration agreement separate from the admission agreement. *Id.* “[T]he Arbitration Agreement stated it could be revoked within thirty days, whereas the Admission Agreement contained no such indication...” *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

As in *Coleman*, *Thompson*, and *Hodge*, the Arbitration Agreement provides that “[y]ou have the right to rescind this Agreement within thirty (30) days after you sign it.” While the Admission Agreement provides that a resident may vacate the facility with at least thirty (30) day’s written notice, that is obviously different from the resident’s right to rescind the Arbitration

Agreement within the first thirty (30) days at the facility without having to terminate their residency, which, as is noted in *Thompson* above, indicates the drafters' intent to keep the Arbitration Agreement separate from the Admission Agreement.

Fourth, “[t]he Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were separately paginated and had their own signature pages.” *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 649, 885 S.E.2d at 149. The Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement each have their own signature pages. If the two agreements were one and the same and were not separate, then there would be no reason for each of them to have separate signature pages. The agreements are, however, not separately paginated because they are not paginated at all, thus creating another ambiguity as to merger that must be construed against the drafter.

Fifth, the right to disclaim the arbitration agreement without having to terminate residency at the facility indicates the drafters' intent to keep the arbitration agreement separate from the admission agreement. *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685. “This is consistent with the arbitration agreement’s statement that its execution was not a condition precedent for being admitted to the nursing home: ‘The signing of this Agreement is not a precondition to admission, expedited admission, or the furnishing of services to the Patient/Resident by the Healthcare Center[.]’” *Id.* “This demonstrates the parties’ intent that the two agreements retain their separate identities.” *Id.* “The two agreements are independent of one another, as reflected in the language of the arbitration agreement indicating its execution is not a condition for being admitted to the nursing home.” *Id.*, 416 S.C. at 60, 784 S.E.2d at 688. “[T]he arbitration agreement was separate from the Admission Agreement, and Appellants represented the arbitration agreement to be a voluntary agreement that was not a condition to Mother’s admission to the facility and was unconditionally revocable within thirty days of execution.” *Id.*, 416 S.C. at 62, 784 S.E.2d at 689.

“The Arbitration Agreement specified ‘signing of this Agreement is not a precondition to admission.’” *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 551, 813 S.E.2d at 296. The Court found that the arbitration agreement was voluntary and was not required for admission. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 649, 885 S.E.2d at 149.

As in *Thompson*, *Hodge*, and *Solesbee*, the Arbitration Agreement states that the resident is “not required to sign this Arbitration Agreement as a condition of Resident’s admission to, or as a requirement for Resident to continue to receive care at, this facility.” The ability to reject the Arbitration Agreement while proceeding with the Admission Agreement demonstrates the parties’ intent that the two documents retain their separate identities and independence from one another.

Coleman dictates that the Court can assume merger only if the agreements were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, so long as there is no language or other indication within the agreements of a contrary intent. These two agreements were not executed by the same parties. Appellants are not referenced at all in these agreements and certainly not in the Arbitration Agreement. These two agreements were not executed for the same purpose. The Admission Agreement is for residency and healthcare related services, while the Arbitration Agreement is related to dispute resolution. Finally, as will be argued below, the Arbitration Agreement was not executed at all because it was not signed by Appellants or any of their affiliates.

Even if the agreements were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, there is evidence that the two agreements were meant to be separate and not to merge. Appellants argue that all five of the *Hodge* factors must be present in order for the Court to find merger did not occur. A review of the *Hodge* opinion indicates that the Court made its decision based on the totality of all five factors being present, but that not

necessarily all five factors must be present in order to find against merger. Regardless, all five of the *Hodge* factors indicate the parties' intent for the two agreements to be separate and not merge. The fact that there is ample evidence that the agreements were drafted in such a manner that they could, if necessary, be construed as separate agreements further supports the circuit court's ruling against a finding of merger. The language, lack of pagination, and formatting of the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement evince an intent for the agreements to be considered separately, presumably when such a position would work to the advantage of Appellants. As noted above, the language of the agreements purposefully creates an ambiguity that must be construed against the drafter and required the circuit court to deny Appellants' Motion. The Courts in *Coleman*, *Thompson*, *Hodge*, and *Solesbee* all found that there was no merger. Based on the above, the Court should affirm the circuit court's Order.

II. The Arbitration Agreement is not an independently valid contract because there was no mutual assent or consideration for it.

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